

S.A.P.I.EN.S

7.2 (2014) Vol.7 / n°2 - Large-Scale Restoration

Robert Daoust, Terry Doss, Mark Gorman, Matt Harwell and Cheryl Ulrich

A 10-year ecosystem restoration community of practice tracks large-scale restoration trends

Warning

The contents of this site is subject to the French law on intellectual property and is the exclusive property of the publisher.

The works on this site can be accessed and reproduced on paper or digital media, provided that they are strictly used for personal, scientific or educational purposes excluding any commercial exploitation. Reproduction must necessarily mention the editor, the journal name, the author and the document reference.

Any other reproduction is strictly forbidden without permission of the publisher, except in cases provided by legislation in force in France.



Revues.org is a platform for journals in the humanities and social sciences run by the CLEO, Centre for open electronic publishing (CNRS, EHESS, UP, UAPV).

Electronic reference

Robert Daoust, Terry Doss, Mark Gorman, Matt Harwell and Cheryl Ulrich, « A 10-year ecosystem restoration community of practice tracks large-scale restoration trends », *S.A.P.I.EN.S* [Online], 7.2 | 2014, Online since 22 April 2014, connection on 01 September 2014. URL: http://sapiens.revues.org/1569

Publisher: Institut Veolia Environnement http://sapiens.revues.org http://www.revues.org

Document available online on: http://sapiens.revues.org/1569 This document is a facsimile of the print edition. Licence Creative Commons

Veolia Environnement



Perspectives

A 10-year ecosystem restoration community of practice tracks large-scale restoration trends

Robert Daoust^{1*}, Terry Doss², Mark Gorman³, Matt Harwell⁴ and Cheryl Ulrich⁵

- 1. ARCADIS US, Inc., Plantation, FL 33324 USA
- 2. Biohabitats, Inc., Glen Ridge, NJ 07028 USA
- 3. Northeast-Midwest Institute, Washington, DC 20001 USA
- 4. US Environmental Protection Agency, Gulf Breeze, FL 32561 USA
- 5. LERS pro-tem President, Atlantic Beach, FL 32233 USA
- * Corresponding author (Robert.Daoust@arcadis-us.com)

Abstrac

In 2004, a group of large-scale ecosystem restoration practitioners across the United States convened to start the process of sharing restoration science, management, and best practices under the auspices of a traditional conference umbrella. This forum allowed scientists and decision makers to interact in a new type of setting, with science being presented from a perspective that informed ecosystem restoration decisions, and decision makers articulating their decision needs in a manner that informed the types of science questions that needed to be addressed. From that beginning, a core ecosystem restoration practitioner group has formed a community of practice that continues to build and maintain momentum for this type of ecosystem restoration engagement. In the fall of 2013, this community of practice became permanently organized as the Large-scale Ecosystem Restoration Section within the Society for Ecological Restoration. Over the past decade, this community has evaluated and expanded upon ecosystem restoration themes ranging from defining and measuring success, adaptive management, adaptive governance, and linking science with management decision-making. Current and future themes include novel ecosystems, ecosystem goods and services, urban ecosystem restoration, and climate change and ecosystem resilience.

Keywords: community of practice; restoration practitioners; large-scale ecosystem restoration



TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Evolution of a Community of Practice for Large-scale Ecosystem Restoration
- 2 Tracking a Decade of Restoration Themes
 - 2.1 Defining Success
 - 2.2 Adaptive Management
 - 2.3 Adaptive Governance
 - 2.4 Linking Science with Management Decision Making
- 3 Current and Future Themes
 - 3.1 Novel Ecosystems
 - 3.2 Ecosystem Goods and Services
 - 3.3 Urban Ecosystem Restoration
 - 3.4 Climate Change and Ecosystem Resilience
- 4 Sustainability and Large-scale Ecosystem Restoration Practitioners
- 5 Conclusions
- 6 Acknowledgements
- 7 References

1. EVOLUTION OF A COMMUNITY OF PRACTICE FOR LARGE-SCALE ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION

In 2004, an effort was undertaken to bring together engineers, managers, planners, policy-makers and scientists — all identifiable as restoration practitioners — at the first National Conference on Ecosystem Restoration¹ (NCER) under the leadership of the U.S. Geological Survey and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. This forum focused initially on a number of large-scale, federally funded ecosystem restoration projects in the United States (including Glen Canyon, Everglades, San Francisco Bay/Delta, Chesapeake Bay, Great Lakes, Louisiana Coastal Area, Puget Sound, and the Upper Mississippi River), with ecosystem restoration practitioners from other ecosystems welcome. The overall objectives of these efforts were to disseminate information regarding large-scale ecosystem restoration efforts, so that those efforts would be more prominent in practitioners' thoughts, and incorporated into their research considerations and plans, and to help foster information and knowledge exchange on large-scale ecosystem restoration. The forum started with some fundamental questions for ecosystem restoration practitioners, such as "Are there local, regional and national policies guiding restoration?" Additionally, these conferences presented information on important restoration trends and real-time results. The conference was considered "successful" from an information sharing perspective such that the organizers committed to holding biennial conferences in the future to continue dialogue and expand discussions on restoration themes.

Recognizing a need for long-term sustainability of the conference and its purpose, within five years (at the 3rd

1 http://conference.ifas.ufl.edu/ecosystem/index.html

National Conference), conference planners focused on identifying a long-term organizational path forward, exploring governance options ranging from forming a stand-alone organization to merging with another society. The impetus was to identify a self-supporting entity that included more restoration programs, organizations, and academic communities to support efforts to reach a greater number of restoration practitioners. At this point the National Coalition for Ecosystem Restoration was formed and formal conversations about the fate and organizational structure of NCER were initiated.

Between 2009 and 2011, NCER engaged the Society for Ecological Restoration² (SER) and America's Great Waters Coalition (a newly formed coalition, existing independently from NCER)³ (Ulrich, 2012). By 2013, NCER members had reached agreement with the Board of SER and a new SER Section, the Large-scale Ecological Restoration Section (LERS) was formed. As the LERS umbrella organization, SER is dedicated to reversing ecological degradation and restoring the earth's ecological balance for the benefit of humans and nature. Their guiding principles are that ecological restoration: is an engaging and inclusive process; requires the integration of knowledge and practice; is relevant and essential to the formation and implementation of related federal and state policy by elected officials and policymakers; and is practiced locally with global implications.

The mission of the LERS community of practice is to:

- advance public education and enlightenment concerning large-scale ecosystem resources;
- provide a forum for an interchange of ideas, approaches, lessons learned, and data developed relevant to planning, policy, science, and engineering of large-scale ecosystem restoration;
- develop and encourage large-scale ecosystem restoration as a discipline by supporting student education, curriculum development, and research; and
- encourage and evaluate the educational, scientific, engineering, and technological development and advancement of all branches of large-scale ecosystem restoration and practice.

Over the past decade, this large-scale ecosystem restoration communication effort has focused on a large range of thematic topics; here we outline some of the larger historical themes and outline some future directions for the new LERS Section of SER. This community of practice has also engaged in a number of additional themes not presented here, including examining funding trends and restoration implementation trends (Hassett *et al.*, 2005).

² http://ser.org/

³ http://greatwaterscoalition.org/



2. TRACKING A DECADE OF RESTORATION THEMES

2.1 DEFINING SUCCESS

Defining ecosystem restoration "success" was an initial main theme a decade ago, since the definition of actual restoration goals and objectives would allow for adaptive management of restoration projects, as well as determining if funding appropriated toward those projects was being efficiently prioritized. In part, this focus was a function of the relative young age of many of the federally funded restoration projects a decade ago. The other major driver of this was the first forum focused on identifying similarities and differences across projects throughout the U.S. — often through sessions that brought examples from different restoration programs. For example, in Everglades restoration, a large part of this dialogue focused on whether defining success involved achieving a 'Xerox reduction' of the original ecosystem, or success defined through a 'cookie cutter' approach by restoring a particular habitat or parcel of land to historical ecosystem attributes (USACE & SFWMD, 1999).

At present, most current dialogue is evolving away from the basic question of "What is success?" towards adaptively redefining "How do we successfully restore an ecosystem?" One example of this type of dialogue surrounds the work of the Mississippi River-Gulf of Mexico Watershed Nutrient Task Force. This Task Force is designed to facilitate the cooperative actions of federal agencies, states, and tribes within the Mississippi/Atchafalaya River Basin to reduce the size of the Gulf hypoxic zone, while protecting and restoring the human and natural resources of the Mississippi River Basin ("the Coastal Goal"). Early efforts to do so have fallen far short of goals the Task Force set (Mississippi River/Gulf of Mexico Watershed Nutrient Task Force, 2008). In 2013 a number of aspects of the program were reevaluated, including the need to explore the benefits of supplementing the Coastal Goal with other, more readily achievable, incremental measures to track nutrient reduction activities and nutrient load reduction results towards addressing the longer-term restoration goal (Mississippi River/Gulf of Mexico Watershed Nutrient Task Force, 2013). This represents a different scale of discussion among practitioners for articulating restoration goals than smaller, but not less important, restoration projects (e.g. Matthews et al., 2009). One potential future area this discussion thread may take may be how to define success for novel ecosystems (see below).

2.2 ADAPTIVE MANAGEMENT

Adaptive management (AM) has been a long-standing theme for this group of restoration practitioners. Adaptive management in ecosystem restoration focuses on developing a structured approach to address uncertainties, test hypotheses, and link science to decision making to allow for making adjustments to restoration implementation in order to improve the probability of restoration success. Much of

this dialogue has focused on authorities and establishing frameworks for implementing adaptive management under existing regulatory authorities, individual agency mandates, and with complicated interagency organizational structures. This discussion thread has involved an extensive dialogue between scientists, planners and managers, including discussion on how to implement new policy and guidance such as that from the National Research Council (National Research Council, 2004), the U.S. Department of Interior (Williams et al., 2007), and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE, 2009). One example of the importance of the LERS community of practice is in emphasizing the sharing of lessons learned such as the development and articulation of the key AM lessons learned from the first decade of Everglades restoration (e.g. LoSchiavo et al., 2013). Because establishing AM frameworks takes a long period of time, AM will continue to be a major theme for this group of practitioners with future focus on completing the adaptive management feedback loop to adjusting restoration implementation to improve success.

2.3 ADAPTIVE GOVERNANCE

Adaptive governance has been a recurring theme. The role of adaptive governance (Folke et al., 2005; Olsson, 2006) is to establish and promote frameworks by which decisionmakers can discuss, identify, and approve decisions to adjust management policies, plans, and actions. As the discussion on AM has evolved over time, most restoration programs have recognized the challenges with implementing AM within their existing management and planning structures (e.g. Chadzon et al., 2009; Calmon et al., 2011). As a result a number of senior scientists, planners, and managers brought detailed focus to the need to advance adaptive governance. Scholz and Stiftel (2005) defined five critical challenges for governance models: 1—representation; 2—deliberative process design; 3—scientific learning; 4—public learning; and 5—problem responsiveness. Governance models can be a complex topic (e.g. one adaptive governance challenge is implementing AM with clear linkages between science and management) and likely to remain a theme for LERS in the future. LERS will also need to focus on overcoming significant challenges to effectively implementing adaptive governance; among them the all-too-prevalent political fragmentation of authority, as well as determining how policy makers can develop and use scientific knowledge effectively.

2.4 LINKING SCIENCE WITH MANAGEMENT DECISION MAKING

The interface between science and management has been an undercurrent theme for the past decade of this group. Early on, this forum helped create an atmosphere that fostered collaboration between restoration scientists and managers to work beyond a mentality of "If the managers would just get out of the way or listen to what the scientists say to do, we would be restoring ecosystems faster" and "pointy-headed scientists don't produce anything useful." The focus then became a two-part dialog: 1—"What science information do the decision makers need?"; and 2—"What is the management relevance/

implication of the science?" For the Everglades restoration example, practitioners leveraged the NCER community to help advance their work on communication tools, advancing from the early calls for effective science to be brought to the restoration planning table (e.g. Harwell, 1998) to specific indicators that are used by policy makers in making large-scale ecosystem restoration decisions (e.g. Doren et al., 2009; Smith, 2011; USACE & SFWMD, 2011). The future direction of this theme with LERS may include exploring principles of strategic communication, based upon three pillars: message; audience; and vehicle (the communication format) to inform a broader audience of decision-makers (e.g. agency program and technical managers, Congress and state legislatures, and the general public).

3. CURRENT AND FUTURE THEMES

Here we highlight a few areas of current and future themes this community of practice are likely to engage, including novel ecosystems, ecosystem goods and services, urban ecosystem restoration, climate change and ecosystem resilience, and sustainability. However, these themes are not intended to be exhaustive. The new LERS section of the Society for Ecological Restoration is working to identify additional themes and this may include the call to develop thorough reviews of congruence or mismatches between the practitioner community and the academic literature for a particular theme (e.g. advancing synthesis work from Holl et al., 2003 and Doyle & Drew, 2008).

3.1 NOVEL ECOSYSTEMS

Most ecosystems are now sufficiently altered in structure and function so as to qualify as novel ecosystems; systems that include different species and functions require us to change how we approach conservation, restoration and environmental management (*i.e.* such systems may be effectively immune to traditional, practical restorative efforts) (Seastedt *et al.*, 2005; Hobbs *et al.*, 2009). An ongoing dialogue among practitioners regarding the ecological, ethical, social, cultural, and political natures of novel ecosystems will be central to determining how to intervene in them effectively and responsibly.

3.2 ECOSYSTEM GOODS AND SERVICES

Valuation of ecosystem goods and services is a difficult and sometimes controversial undertaking and the literature is replete with example valuations (e.g. MEA, 2005). Ecologists and economists have often been criticized for trying to place a monetary value on nature often in the absence of credible data to back up the attempt, and recent research has focused on clarifying final (actual) ecosystem services with ecological-based functions that provide an indirect benefit (e.g. Johnston & Russell, 2011). Nonetheless, federal and state agencies charged with protecting and managing natural resources often make difficult spending decisions that involve costbenefit analyses that should include the monetary value (benefit) of the natural resources being protected or restored.

Therefore, an ongoing discussion regarding ecosystem economic valuation will prove to be useful in advancing related policies and activities that protect or restore ecosystems and their services. One recent example is the call for attention to ecosystem goods and services as a part of the scientific effort to understand the impact to the Gulf of Mexico after the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill in 2010 (National Research Council. 2013).

3.3 URBAN ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION

Ecological restoration often aims to recreate past (*i.e.* 'presettlement') ecosystem conditions; a goal that is effectively impossible in urban areas where human activities have eliminated that possibility in most cases. Urban ecosystem restoration may also involve a different type of attention to utilizing regulatory tools (*e.g.* Lord *et al.*, 2002). Drawing on past efforts, and upon the results of ongoing and future research, a future objective of our work can be to help project managers determine what kind of restoration is desirable and possible in an urban setting.

3.4 CLIMATE CHANGE AND ECOSYSTEM RESILIENCE

The intersection between the dynamism of climate change and ecological impacts (e.g. Harris et al., 2006; National Research Council, 2008) and activities by natural resource managers (e.g. Scarlett, 2010) is a current area getting significant attention. Addressing climate change, including the focus on enhancing ecosystem resilience and development of climate adaptation plans (CEQ, 2011; U.S. Army Engineer Institute for Water Resources, 2013a, 2013b) in restoration efforts will likely remain a large theme for this group of restoration practitioners.

4. SUSTAINABILITY AND LARGE-SCALE ECOSYSTEM RESTORATION PRACTITIONERS

All large-scale ecosystem restoration programs emphasize the importance of maintaining longevity in effort, commitment, resources and science monitoring. Many tie long-term objectives to maintaining ecosystem resilience, improving ecosystem services, and improving sustainability of the natural system. Similarly, maintaining and enhancing a community of practice increases the chance for longterm, sustainable ecosystem restoration efforts. Sharing lessons learned across programs, providing guidance to new programs, and fostering scaling of important restoration practices to restoration programs of different sizes will be invaluable for sustainability of restoration science (e.g. LoSchiavo et al., 2013). With potential decreases in funding and/or increasing demands for resources to be spread across multiple restoration programs, scientists, practitioners, planners and managers engaged with the work of the LERS Section of the Society for Ecological Restoration will better anchor their arguments to provide longevity, and ultimately sustainability of their restoration efforts. LERS aims to



contribute towards other "restoration knowledge hubs" (Menz et al., 2013).

5. CONCLUSIONS

The large-scale ecosystem issues that society faces today are multi-jurisdictional, multifaceted, intergenerational and interconnected, and none will be adequately solved, let alone understood, unless the scientific community embraces a way of thinking, planning and implementing that also is multi-jurisdictional, multifaceted, intergenerational and interconnected. The new LERS section of the Society for Ecological Restoration stands poised to facilitate the development of just such a perspective, by advancing public education, providing a forum for information exchange, supporting student education, curriculum development, and research, and nurturing the development and advancement of all branches of large-scale ecosystem restoration and practice.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The journey to establish this community of practice encompassed two important five-year windows. We wish to acknowledge the level of organic enthusiasm by all those involved in the first five years of NCER to set up the National Community, including the wisdom, perseverance, and infectious enthusiasm of Dr. G. Ronnie Best (U.S. Geological Survey, retired) who helped lead the effort to respond to former U.S. Army Corps of Engineer's Chief, Lieutenant General Robert Flowers and his call for better integration and sharing of scientific information and communication of that information for use in resource management decisions. We appreciate the many people involved with the active dialogue and efforts in the past five years to bring the Largescale Ecosystem Restoration Section into existence. We also thank the America's Great Waters Coalition and the Society for Ecological Restoration for wisdom and advice on our journey. We wish to thank several anonymous reviewers for useful comments on this manuscript. The opinions expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views or policies of organizations of the authors. The contents do not necessarily reflect the views of the USEPA, nor does mention of trade names or commercial products or websites constitute endorsement or recommendation for use.

References

Calmon, M., P.H.S. Brancalion, A. Paese, J. Aronson *et al.* [2011]. Emerging threats and opportunities for large-scale ecological restoration in the Atlantic forest of Brazil. *Restoration Ecology* 19:154-158.

Chazdon, R., C.A. Harvey, O. Komar, M. Van Breugel *et al.* (2009). Beyond reserves: A research agenda for conserving biodiversity in tropical cultural landscapes. *Biotropica* 41:141-153.

Council on Environmental Quality [CEQ] (2011). National action

plan: Priorities for managing freshwater resources in a changing climate. Washington, DC: Council on Environmental Quality. URL: http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/microsites/ceq/2011_national_action_plan.pdf

Doren, R.F., J.C. Trexler, A.D. Gottlieb & M.C. Harwell (2009). Ecological indicators for system-wide assessment of the greater Everglades ecosystem restoration program. *Ecological Indicators* 9(6): S2-S16.

Doyle, M. & C.A. Drew (2008). *Large-Scale Ecosystem Restoration*. Washington DC: Island Press.

Folke, C., T. Hahn, P. Olsson & J. Norberg (2005). Adaptive governance of social-ecological systems. *Annual Review of Environmental Resources* 30: 441-73.

Harris, J.A., R.J. Hobbs, E. Higgs & J. Aronson (2006). Ecological restoration and global climate change. *Restoration Ecology* 14(2): 170-176.

Harwell, M.A. (1998). Science and environmental decision making in South Florida. Ecological Applications 8(3): 580-590.

Hassett, B., M. Palmer, E. Bernhardt, S. Smith, J. Carr *et al.* (2005). Restoring watersheds project by project: Trends in Chesapeake Bay tributary restoration. *Frontiers in Ecology* 3: 259-267.

Hobbs, R.J., E. Higgs & J.A. Harris (2009). Novel ecosystems: Implications for conservation and restoration. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 24(11): 599-605.

Holl, K.D., E.E. Crone & C.B. Schultz (2003). Landscape restoration: Moving from generalities to methodologies. *BioScience* 53: 491–502.

Johnston, R.J. & M. Russell (2011). An operational structure for clarity in ecosystem services. *Ecological Economics* 70(12): 2243-2249.

Lord, C.P., E. Strauss & A. Toffler (2002). Natural cities: Urban ecology and the restoration of urban ecosystems. *Virginia Environmental Law Journal* 21: 317.

LoSchiavo, A.J., G.R. Best, R.E. Burns, S. Gray *et al.* (2013). Lessons learned from the first decade of adaptive management in comprehensive Everglades restoration. *Ecology and Society* 18(4): 70.

Matthews, J.W., A.L. Peralta, D.N. Flanagan, P.M. Baldwin *et al.* (2009). Relative influence of landscape vs. local factors on plant community assembly in restored wetlands. *Ecological Applications* 19: 2108-2123.

Menz, M.H.M., K.W. Dixon & R.J. Hobbs (2013). Hurdles and opportunities for landscape-scale restoration. *Science* 339:

526-527.

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment [MEA] (2005). *Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis*. Washington, DC: Island Press.

Mississippi River/Gulf of Mexico Watershed Nutrient Task Force (2008). Gulf hypoxia action plan 2008 for reducing, mitigating, and controlling hypoxia in the northern Gulf of Mexico and improving water quality in the Mississippi River basin. Washington, DC: Mississippi River/Gulf of Mexico Watershed Nutrient Task Force. URL: http://water.epa.gov/type/watersheds/named/msbasin/upload/2008_8_28_msbasin_ghap2008_update082608.pdf

Mississippi River/Gulf of Mexico Watershed Nutrient Task Force (2013). Reassessment 2013 – Assessing progress made since 2008. Washington, DC: Mississippi River/Gulf of Mexico Watershed Nutrient Task Force. URL: http://water.epa.gov/type/watersheds/named/msbasin/upload/hypoxia_reassessment_508.pdf

National Research Council (2004). *Adaptive management for water resources project planning.* Washington, DC: National Academies Press. URL: http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=10972

National Research Council (2008). *Ecological impacts of climate change*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. URL: http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=12491

National Research Council (2013). An ecosystem services approach to assessing the impacts of the Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. URL: http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=18387

Olsson, P., L.H. Gunderson, S.R. Carpenter, P. Ryan *et al.* (2006). Shooting the rapids: Navigating transitions to adaptive governance of social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society* 11(1): 18.

Scarlett, L. (2010). Climate change effects: The intersection of science, policy, and resource management in the USA. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 29(3): 892-903.

Scholz, J.T. & B. Stiftel (Eds.) (2005). *Adaptive Governance and Water Conflict: New Institutions for Collaborative Planning*. Washington, DC: Resources for the Future Press.

Seastedt, T.R., R.J. Hobbs, & K.N. Suding (2008). Management of novel ecosystems: Are novel approaches required? *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 6: 547–553.

Smith, C.B. (2011). Adaptive management on the central Platte River – Science, engineering, and decision analysis to assist in the recovery of four species. *Journal of Environmental Management* 92: 1414-1419.

Ulrich, C. (2012, April 9). Taking ecosystem restoration to the next level – National Community for Ecosystem Restoration and Society for Ecological Restoration. *Livebetter Magazine* 19.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers [USACE] (2009). *Implementation guidance for Section 2039 of the Water Resources Development Act of 2007 (WRDA 2007): Monitoring ecosystem restoration.* CECW-PB. Jacksonville, FL: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. URL: http://planning.usace.army.mil/toolbox/library/WRDA/wrda07Sec2039a.pdf

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers & South Florida Water Management District [USACE & SFWMD] (1999). Central and Southern Florida Project comprehensive review study. Final integrated feasibility report and programmatic environmental impact statement. CESAD-ET-P. Jacksonville, FL: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Jacksonville District and West Palm Beach, FL: South Florida Water Management District. URL: http://www.ever-gladesplan.org/docs/comp_plan_apr99/summary.pdf

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers & South Florida Water Management District [USACE & SFWMD] (2011). CERP Guidance Memorandum 56: Formal guidance to integrate AM into CERP program and project management. Jacksonville, FL: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Jacksonville District and West Palm Beach, FL: South Florida Water Management District. URL: http://www.cerpzone.org/documents/cgm/CGM_56_Adaptive_Management.pdf

U.S. Army Engineer Institute for Water Resources (2013a). Benchmarks for incorporating adaptive management into water project designs, operational procedures, and planning strategies. Report 1 – Federal agency inventory of adaptive management practices and policies. 2013-R-11. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Engineer Institute for Water Resources. URL: http://www.iwr.usace.army.mil/Portals/70/docs/iwrreports/2013-R-11_Benchmarks_Adaptive_Mgmt_Report_1.pdf

U.S. Army Engineer Institute for Water Resources (2013b). Benchmarks for incorporating adaptive management into water project designs, operational procedures, and planning strategies. Report 2 – Recommendations for Federal agency implementation of adaptive management for climate change adaptation. 2013-R-11. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Engineer Institute for Water Resources. URL: http://www.iwr.usace.army.mil/Portals/70/docs/iwrreports/2013-R-12_Benchmarks_Adaptive_Mgmt_Report_2.pdf

Williams, B.K., R.C. Szaro & C.D. Shapiro (2009). Adaptive management: The U.S. Department of the Interior technical guide. Washington, DC: Adaptive Management Working Group, U.S. Department of the Interior.